THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Clifton Newman, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2016-002144

RECEIVED

NOV 14 2016

SC Court of Appeals

City of Columbia.....Appellant,

v.

Robert S. Bruce Respondent.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Jessica R. Mangum
Office of the City Attorney
Post Office Box 667
Columbia, South Carolina 29202
(803) 737-4242

Attorney for Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the trial court correctly sentence the Respondent on a shoplifting, value \$2000 or less charge when the Court sentenced the Respondent to twenty-one days with credit for one day of time served in pretrial detention?
- II. Does S.C. Code Ann. Section 24-13-40 and the holding in State v. Allen require the trial court to give a defendant credit for time served on an unrelated subsequent offense?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE/FACTS

This is an appeal from the circuit court's order remanding the Respondent's case to municipal court to amend sentencing. On October 8, 2014, Officer William Beattie of the City of Columbia Police Department arrested Robert Bruce (hereinafter "Respondent") on the misdemeanor charge of Shoplifting, value \$2,000 or less. The Respondent received a \$2,130.00 personal recognizance bond and was released on October 9, 2014. On October 17, 2014, the Respondent requested a jury trial for the shoplifting charge.

On March 17, 2015, the Respondent was subsequently arrested on a separate shoplifting charge (Enhancement for 3rd or subsequent offense) on warrant number 2015A4021600611 and received a \$5,000.00 surety bond. Because the Respondent did not post that bond, he remained incarcerated at the Alvin S. Glenn Detention Center on the unrelated separate charge. During his incarceration on the second shoplifting charge, the Respondent's personal recognizance bond for the initial shoplifting charge remained in place.

On January 11, 2016, in the Richland County Court of General Sessions, the Respondent pled guilty to the second shoplifting charge as alleged on warrant 2015A40216600611, and the charge was reduced to Shoplifting, value \$2,000 or less. The Respondent was sentenced to thirty (30) days, given credit for time served in pretrial detention, and released (having already served approximately 301 days on that unrelated separate charge). The October 8, 2014 shoplifting charge was not included in the Respondent's general session's plea agreement, and it remained a separate and distinct pending charge in the City of Columbia Municipal Court.

On March 23, 2016, the Respondent was tried before a jury for the October 8, 2014 shoplifting offense, and he was found guilty. During sentencing, the Respondent argued that pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. section 24-13-40, he must receive credit for time served in pretrial detention/incarceration on the subsequent unrelated and separate shoplifting offense. The trial court disagreed and sentenced the Respondent to twenty (20) days with credit for the one (1) day of time he served prior to receiving a personal recognizance bond.

On March 30, 2016, the Respondent filed an appeal to the Richland County Court of Common Pleas to challenge his sentence, alleging the municipal court committed an error of law and abused its discretion in refusing to give the Respondent credit for the approximately 301 days he spent in pretrial detention/incarceration on the subsequent unrelated and separate shoplifting offense.

The circuit court, sitting in its appellate capacity (hereinafter "appellate court"), heard oral arguments on August 26, 2016. By written order dated September 19, 2016, The Honorable Clifton Newman granted the Respondent's appeal, finding S.C. Code

Ann. Section 24-13-40 and the Supreme Court's holding in *Allen v. State* required the lower court to give the Respondent credit for the time he served on the subsequent and unrelated additional charge. *Allen v. State*, 339 S.C. 393, 39, 529 S.E.2d 541, (2012). Judge Newman remanded the case to municipal court with instructions to credit the Respondent with time served for the entirety of his twenty-one (21) day sentence.

On October 19, 2016, the City of Columbia (hereinafter "Appellant") served notice of appeal to the Respondent via hand-delivery to the Fifth Circuit Public Defender's Office. The same day, the Appellant filed clocked copies of the Notice of Appeal with the Richland County Clerk of Court and the South Carolina Court of Appeals.

ARGUMENT

- I. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY SENTENCED THE RESPONDENT FOR SHOPLIFTING, VALUE \$2000 OR LESS WHEN THE COURT SENTENCED THE RESPONDENT TO TWENTY-ONE DAYS WITH CREDIT FOR ONE DAY OF TIME SERVED IN PRETRIAL DETENTION.

Standard of Review

In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only. *State v. Wilson*, 345 S.C. 1, 5, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001). "An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's ruling is based on an error of law." *State v. Wright*, 391 S.C. 436, 442, 706 S.E.2d 324, 236 (2011) (internal citations omitted). A trial judge has broad discretion in sentencing within statutory limits. *In re M.B.H.*, 387 S.C. 323, 326, 692 S.E.2d 541, 542 (2010) (citing *Brooks v. State*, 325 S.C. 269, 271, 481 S.E.2d 712, 713 (1997)). "A judge must be permitted to consider any and all information that reasonably might bear on the proper sentence for a particular defendant." *Id.* (citing *State v. Hicks*,

377 S.C. 322, 325, 659 S.E.2d 499, 500 (Ct.App.2008)). A sentence will not be overturned absent an abuse of discretion when the ruling is based on an error of law. *Id.* (citing *State v. Rice*, 375 S.C. 302, 315, 652 S.E.2d 409, 415 (Ct.App.2007)).

Analysis/Discussion

The plain language of S.C. Code Ann. § 24-13-40 provides that

The computation of the time served by prisoners under sentences imposed by the courts of this State must be calculated from the date of the imposition of the sentence. ... However, when ... the court shall have designated a specific time for the commencement of the service of the sentence, the computation of the time served must be calculated from the date of the commencement of the service of the sentence. In every case in computing the time **served** by a prisoner, full credit against the sentence must be given for **time served** prior to trial and sentencing, and may be given for any time spent under monitored house arrest. Provided, however, that credit for **time served** prior to trial and sentencing shall not be given: (1) when the prisoner at the time he was imprisoned prior to trial was an escapee from another penal institution; or (2) when the prisoner **is serving a sentence** for one offense and is awaiting trial and sentence for a second offense in which case he shall not receive credit for time served prior to trial in a reduction of his sentence for the second offense.

S.C. Code Ann. § 24-13-40 (Supp. 2013) (emphasis added). “Where the terms of a statute are clear, the court must apply those terms according to their literal meaning.” *Allen v. State*, 339 S.C. 393, 395, 529 S.E.2d 541, 542 (2012). In addition, “[t]he words of the statute must be given their plain and ordinary meaning without resorting to subtle or forced construction to limit or expand its scope.” *Id.* Moreover, “Courts will reject a statutory interpretation that would lead to a result so plainly absurd that it could not have been intended by the Legislature or would defeat the plain legislative intention.” *State v. Taylor*, 411 S.C. 294, 301, 768 S.E.2d 71, 75 (Ct. App. 2014).

In *Allen v. State*, the Supreme Court found the defendant was entitled to credit for time served on his initial set of charges because his bond was revoked and he was

incarcerated following his later arrest on additional charges. Because the defendant's bond on the initial charge had been revoked based upon his later arrest, he was "awaiting trial and sentencing on all offenses ... and was clearly in custody on all charges." *Allen*, 339 S.C. at 395-96, 529 S.E.2d at 542. However, the circumstances in *Allen* are clearly and easily distinguishable from the case at bar. In the present case, the Respondent was given a personal recognizance bond when he was first arrested for shoplifting on October 8, 2014. After the Respondent's March 17, 2015 arrest for the additional, separate, and unrelated shoplifting/property offense, the original bond was not revoked. Additionally, the plain language of the statute clearly states that credit is not given when a prisoner is "serving a sentence for one offense and is awaiting trial and sentence for a second offense." S.C. Code Ann. § 24-13-40 (Supp. 2013). The facts in the record show that the Respondent had served the sentence on the second charge and was waiting for a subsequent trial and sentencing on the first. Moreover, the Respondent was not in custody on the initial charge at the time of the sentencing on his subsequent and unrelated offense because his bond had not been revoked and the personal recognizance bond remained in effect.

Because there appears to be a dearth of cases in South Carolina that address this specific factual scenario, it is instructive to compare the case at bar to cases in other jurisdictions that have addressed similarly situated defendants. *See generally, e.g., People v. Prieskorn*, 424 Mich. 327, 381 N.W.2d 646 (Mich. 1986) (holding that defendant was not entitled to credit for time served for an unrelated offense that was committed while defendant was on bond for another, separate offense); and *Rash v. United States of America*, 2010 WL 6794692, 1 (W. Va. 2010) (finding that "credit for

time served will not be granted where the time in custody was credited against another offense”¹. Likewise, it is prudent to adhere to the generally accepted principal that the courts must reject statutory interpretations that lead to a result so absurd that it was either not intended or would otherwise defeat the plain legislative intention. *Taylor*, 411 S.C. at 301, 768 S.E.2d at 75.

Under the appellate court’s interpretation of the statute, if the Respondent’s trial and sentencing on his October 8, 2014 shoplifting charge had occurred while he was serving any portion of the thirty (30) day time served sentence he received on the subsequent unrelated shoplifting charge, the Respondent would not qualify for credit under S.C. Code section 24-13-40. Moreover, the appellate court reasons that because the Respondent was not tried and sentenced on the October 8, 2014 shoplifting charge during the time he was incarcerated on the subsequent charge, he must be given credit for that time. That result appears expressly contrary to existing public policy and is so patently absurd that such an interpretation presumably could not be the intent of the Legislature.

Additionally, under the appellate court’s interpretation of the statute, the 301 days the Respondent served in pretrial detention/incarceration on the subsequent charge must also be applied to any future sentence he might receive because “full credit against the sentence must be given for time served prior to trial and sentencing.” *Circuit Court Order*; pg. 2. Essentially, the court construes the statutory language “prior to trial and

¹ As explained in *Rash v. United States*, 18 U.S.C. § 3585(b) provides that “A defendant shall be given credit toward the service of a term of imprisonment for any time he has spent in official detention prior to the date the sentence commences (1) as a result of the offense for which the sentence was imposed; or (2) as a result of any other charge for which the defendant was arrested after the commission of the offense for which the sentence was imposed; that has not been credited against another sentence.”

sentencing” to apply to any trial and any sentence. This interpretation clearly and unnecessarily expands the scope of the statute beyond its intended meaning.

Accordingly, to accept the appellate court’s interpretation of the statute would be tantamount to rewarding a defendant for the commission of multiple crimes; and the Legislature certainly did not intend to reward defendants who commit multiple crimes with more credit than those who did not.² If the Legislature had intended for criminal defendants to benefit from the disposition of criminal acts that occur “last in time,” they would have certainly seen fit to change the plain language of section 24-13-40 accordingly.

Most importantly, the statute plainly reads that credit is not to be given when a defendant awaits trial and sentencing on a separate and distinct offense; and it is significant that the language does not dictate that sentences must “relate back” or be otherwise predicated upon a linear disposition of charges. Rather, the most logical reading of the plain language is that credit for time served is simply not assessed on separate and distinct offenses – regardless of which occurs first in time – and especially not in situations where the defendant remains on bond prior to the ultimate disposition of the charges.

Ultimately, the public policy of the State is not to reward defendants merely because they commit separate and distinct crimes and subsequently serve separate and distinct pretrial detentions or sentences. The plain language of section 24-13-40 expressly prohibits credit for time served when a defendant awaits trial and sentencing on

² In addition, it is illogical to suggest that a Defendant who has committed multiple crimes must be allowed to benefit more so than another defendant who has remained on bond prior to sentencing.

a separate offense and the Legislature clearly did not intend to reward defendants who commit additional crimes.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated, the Appellant respectfully requests that this Court reverse the previous appellate court and affirm the sentence of the trial court.