THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Clifton B. Newman, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2016-002144

RECEIVED

JAN 31 2017

SC Court of Appeals

City of Columbia, Appellant,

v.

Robert S. Bruce, Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Jessica E. Sturgill
Assistant Public Defender

Richland County Public Defender's Office
P.O. Box 192
Columbia, SC 29201
(803) 765-2592

Attorney for Respondent

COUNTER-STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Was the Circuit Court correct in holding that the statutory construction of S.C. Code Ann. § 24-13-40 (2016) and the holding in Allen v. State, 339 S.C. 393, 395 (2000) require the trial court to credit a defendant with time served in pretrial detention on all charges pending at that time, regardless of which charge is technically holding the defendant?

COUNTER-STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Respondent was arrested on October 8, 2014 in the City of Columbia and charged with Shoplifting, value \$2,000 or less (ticket number 16002GY). Respondent received a \$2,130 personal recognizance bond and was released from Alvin S. Glenn Detention Center on October 9, 2014. Respondent requested a jury trial on October 17, 2014.

While this charge was pending and Respondent was awaiting trial, he was arrested on March 17, 2015 for Shoplifting/Enhancement for 3rd or Subsequent Offense (warrant number 2015A4021600611). Although he received a \$5,000 surety bond on the new charge, Respondent was financially unable to post bond and remained incarcerated at Alvin S. Glenn Detention Center. On January 11, 2016, Respondent pleaded guilty to the reduced charge of Shoplifting, value \$2,000 or less on the same warrant and was sentenced to thirty days with credit for time served. Respondent was released after serving 301 days of pretrial incarceration.

On March 23, 2016, Respondent was tried and convicted on the October 8, 2014 shoplifting charge (ticket number 16002GY) in the Columbia Municipal Court. (R. pp. 11-16). At sentencing, Respondent argued S.C. Code Ann. § 24-13-40 requires that credit be given to Respondent for the 301 days spent in pretrial incarceration while this ticket was pending. (R. p. 13, lines 3-11). Judge Steven Dennis rejected this argument and sentenced Respondent to twenty-one days of incarceration with only one day of credit for time served. (R. p. 13 lines 12-13, 15; p. 16, lines 1-8).

That same day, Respondent filed a Writ of Habeas Corpus arguing he was being detained unlawfully for the same reasons argued on appeal. At that hearing on March 29, 2016, the merits of that argument were not reached and instead Respondent was granted a \$5,000 personal recognizance appeal bond by Judge Tanya Gee. On March 30, 2016, Respondent filed a Notice

of Appeal on March 30, 2016. (R. pp. 6-8). Respondent was released that same day from Alvin S. Glenn Detention Center, after serving an additional seven days of incarceration.

On August 26, 2016, this appeal was heard before the Honorable Judge Clifton B. Newman in the Richland County Court of Common Pleas. (R. p. 18). After oral arguments, Judge Newman requested both parties submit proposed orders for his consideration. (R. p. 66, lines 6-8; p. 67, lines 3-19). On September 19, 2016, Judge Newman signed an Order remanding the case and instructing the City of Columbia Municipal Court to credit Respondent with time served for the entirety of his twenty-one day sentence. (R. pp. 3-5).

The City of Columbia filed this appeal with the Court of Appeals on October 19, 2016. (R. p. 9). They submitted their Initial Brief on November 14, 2016. This brief follows.

ARGUMENT

- I. The Circuit Court was correct in ruling that the statutory construction of S.C. Code Ann. § 24-13-40 (2016) and the holding in Allen v. State, 339 S.C. 393, 395 (2000) require the trial court to credit a defendant with time served in pretrial detention on all charges pending at that time, regardless of which charge is technically holding the defendant.

Standard of Review

“In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only.” State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 5-6, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001) (citing State v. Cutter, 261 S.C. 140, 199 S.E.2d 61 (1973)). Therefore, “[o]n review, [the appellate court is] limited to determining whether the trial judge abused his discretion.” Wilson, 345 S.C. at 6 (citing State v. Reed, 332 S.C. 35, 503 S.E.2d 747 (1998)). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court’s ruling is based on an error of law.” State v. Wright, 391 S.C. 436, 442, 706 S.E.2d 324, 326 (2011) (quoting Clark v. Cantrell, 339 S.C. 369, 389, 529 S.E.2d 528, 539 (2000)). Statutory interpretation is a question of law for appellate courts to review. Bryant v. State, 384 S.C. 525, 529, 683 S.E.2d 280, 282 (2009) (citing Catawba Indian Tribe of S.C. v. State, 372 S.C. 519, 524, 642 S.E.2d 751, 753 (2007)).

- A. Credit for pretrial detention must be given in all cases but for two exceptions—where the defendant was an escapee or serving an active sentence on another offense—because the terms of S.C. Code Ann. § 24-13-40 are clear, and therefore courts must apply those terms according to their literal meaning.

The Supreme Court of South Carolina has explained that “[t]he cardinal rule of statutory construction is to ascertain and effectuate the intent of the legislature.” Charleston County School Dist. v. State Budget and Control Bd., 313 S.C. 1, 5, 437 S.E.2d 6, 8 (1993) (citing Bankers Trust of South Carolina v. Bruce, 275 S.C. 35, 267 S.E.2d 424 (1980)). Furthermore, “[a] statute’s language must be construed in light of the intended purpose of the statute,” and “[w]henever possible, legislative intent should be found in the plain language of the statute itself.” State v. Gaines, 380 S.C. 23, 33, 667 S.E.2d 728, 733 (2008). The South Carolina Court of

Appeals further elaborated in stating that “[t]he legislature’s intent should be ascertained primarily from the language of the statute...[t]he language must be read in a sense which harmonizes with its subject matter and accords with its general purpose.” State v. Sweat, 379, S.C. 367, 375, 665 S.E.2d 645, 649 (Ct. App. 2008).

Section 24-13-40 of the South Carolina Code of Laws governs the computation of time served by prisoners in this state. It provides:

The computation of the time served by prisoners under sentences imposed by the courts of this State must be calculated from the date of the imposition of the sentence. However, when (a) a prisoner shall have given notice of intention to appeal, (b) the commencement of the service of the sentence follows the revocation of probation, or (c) the court shall have designated a specific time for the commencement of the service of the sentence, the computation of the time served must be calculated from the date of the commencement of the service of the sentence. In **every case** in computing the time served by a prisoner, **full credit against the sentence must be given for time served prior to trial and sentencing**, and may be given for any time spent under monitored house arrest. **Provided, however, that credit for time served prior to trial and sentencing shall not be given: (1) when the prisoner at the time he was imprisoned prior to trial was an escapee from another penal institution; or (2) when the prisoner is serving a sentence for one offense and is awaiting trial and sentence for a second offense in which case he shall not receive credit for time served prior to trial in a reduction of his sentence for the second offense.**”

S.C. Code Ann. § 24-13-40 (2016)(emphasis added).

In 2000, the Supreme Court of South Carolina issued its seminal opinion on the meaning of § 24-13-40 in Allen v. State, 339 S.C. 393, 529 S.E.2d 541 (2000). In ruling, the Supreme Court of South Carolina pointed to the canon of statutory construction that “where the terms of a statute are clear, the court must apply those terms according to their literal meaning.” Allen, 339 S.C. at 395. The Supreme Court continued, “[t]he words of the statute must be given their plain and ordinary meaning without resorting to subtle or forced construction to limit or expand its scope.” Id. Per the rules of statutory construction, the Supreme Court held that § 24-13-40 “**mandates** a prisoner be given credit for all time served prior to trial **unless** one of two exceptions exist: 1) either the prisoner

was an escapee or 2) the prisoner was already serving a sentence on one offense.” Id. (emphasis added). The Court held that when neither exception applies, pretrial detention must be credited to the defendant. See id. at 395–96.

This strict interpretation of the language of § 24-13-40 has not only been upheld, but even strengthened, in the more than sixteen years since Allen was decided. The Supreme Court in 2002 made clear that the decision to deny a defendant credit for time served “is not discretionary with the trial court.” State v. McCord, 349 S.C. 477, 487, 562 S.E.2d 689, 694 (2002). In 2008, the Court of Appeals addressed this statute as it applied to pretrial detention in different jurisdictions. State v. Suber, 2008 WL 9848567 (S.C. Ct. App. Dec. 9, 2008). The Court held that where a prisoner is being detained pretrial on two sets of charges in two different counties, the prisoner was entitled to credit on both sets of charges for all time spent pre-sentencing. Id. The Court only excluded credit from the latter resolved set of charges for the time the defendant spent incarcerated after sentencing on the first set of charges, per the active sentence exception in § 24-13-40. Id. The Court of Appeals in 2010 reinforced that there are only two exceptions to § 24-13-40 when it held that “[a] judge’s disappointment in the maximum sentence he can impose is not one of the exceptions to the mandatory language in section 24-13-40.” State v. Boggs, 388 S.C. 314, 316, 696 S.E.2d 597, 598 (Ct. App. 2010). In 2015, the Court of Appeals specified that the same strict interpretation of § 24-13-40 – there being only two exceptions to the mandatory nature of credit for pretrial detention – applies to split sentences, stating that “[t]he statute does not make a distinction for split sentences; thus, under the plain language of the statute, we find the pre-trial detention time should apply against a probation revocation whenever a probationer receives a split sentence.” Hayes v. State, 413 S.C. 553, 560, 777 S.E.2d 6, 10 (Ct. App. 2015).

Additionally, the courts' strict interpretation and application of the only two exceptions to mandatory credit for time served in § 24-13-40 has not been disturbed by the Legislature. Allen and Blakeney v. State, 339 S.C. 86, 529 S.E.2d 9 (2000) were decided in 2000 and McCord in 2002. Although the Legislature amended § 24-13-40 in 2010 and 2013, the mandatory nature of credit for pretrial time and the strict two exceptions to this credit remain unchanged.¹ Importantly, no additional exceptions or preconditions have been added.

In the present case, Respondent spent 301 days before conviction and sentencing incarcerated at Alvin S. Glenn Detention Center while Ticket 16002GY was pending and while he was awaiting trial. Neither exception listed in § 24-13-40 applies to Respondent's situation; Respondent was not detained as an escapee of another penal institution nor was Respondent serving an active sentence on another offense. As such, the Circuit Court was correct in ruling that per the plain language of § 24-13-40 and the holding in Allen, Respondent is entitled to credit for that time towards his sentence on Ticket 16002GY. Therefore, the Court should affirm.

- B. There is no requirement in S.C. Code Ann. § 24-13-40 that bond be revoked on the charge being sentenced in order to trigger entitlement to that pretrial detention credit.

Appellant contends that revocation of the original bond upon re-arrest is required in order to continue accruing credit towards that sentence. As explained above, the plain language of § 24-13-40 does not support such a construction. Appellant may be relying upon dicta in Allen to come to this conclusion, but the holding in Allen does not require revocation as a precondition to obtaining credit.

¹ Specifically, in the 2010 amendment the legislature "substituted 'must be calculated from' for 'shall be reckoned from' in the first and second sentences, substituted 'However, when' for 'But when' in the second sentence, and made other nonsubstantive changes." Then in 2013, the amendment added ', and may be given for any time spent under monitored house arrest' at the end of the third sentence" after the portion stating that credit must be given for pretrial time. S.C. Code Ann. § 24-13-40 (2016).

In Allen, Ricky Lee Allen was arrested and incarcerated for two counts of grand larceny and one count of malicious injury to property on June 4, 1996. 339 S.C. at 394. Eighteen days later, on June 22, 1996, he was released on bond. Id. On June 26, 1996, he was arrested on new charges: breaking into a motor vehicle and petit larceny. Id. His bond from the June 4th arrest was revoked (at some unspecified time), and he remained in jail until September 12, 1996 when he pleaded guilty to all five offenses. Id. The Supreme Court held that the trial judge erred in not giving Mr. Allen credit on the three June 4th offenses for the time he did from June 26th through September 12th. Id. at 396.

As explained in subsection A, the Supreme Court held that since Mr. Allen was neither an escapee nor serving an active sentence, neither exception applied and credit must be given. Allen, 339 S.C. at 395. That is the holding of Allen. The Court then goes on to explain, “[m]oreover, Allen’s bond was revoked on the first set of charges.” Allen, 339 S.C. at 396. The choice to use this word, “moreover,” is important. The Court had already made its determination that the lower court had erred in not crediting Mr. Allen with the pretrial time because of the plain language of the statute. That reasoning alone was sufficient for their holding. The use of the word, “moreover²” implicates a separate, additional reason to reject the argument raised by the State, not a necessary precondition.

Furthermore, in Allen, the Supreme Court held Mr. Allen was entitled to credit for time from the day he was arrested, not the day bond was revoked. 339 S.C. at 396. While the facts of the case do not specify when bond on his first set of charges was actually revoked, based on common practice, bond would not have been revoked immediately. When the government wants to revoke a defendant’s bond, they must file a motion, give notice to all parties, and then

² Merriam-Webster’s Dictionary defines “moreover” as “in addition to what has been said: besides.” Merriam-Webster Dictionary, available at <https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/moreover>.

schedule the hearing with the court. It is not an immediate process, and takes several days at a minimum. Thus, it appears the actual revocation of bond is unnecessary and instead incarceration while a charge is pending is the touchstone for calculating time served.

This view is further supported by the Supreme Court's definition of "time-served" provided that same year in Blakeney. There, the Court pointed to Crooks v. State, 326 S.C. 171, 485 S.E.2d 374 (1997) and clarified that "'time-served' in § 24-13-40 means the time during which a defendant is in pre-trial confinement and **charged** with the offense for which he is sentenced (so long as he is not serving time for a prior conviction)." 339 S.C. at 88. The Court specifically did **not** say "held" on the offense for which is sentenced. Therefore, revocation of bond or being held on the offense being sentenced is not a requirement to be entitled to the mandatory credit for pretrial time under § 24-13-40; instead, Allen, Blakeney and the plain language of the statute dictate that credit must be given for those offenses which have been charged while a defendant is serving pretrial detention (not as an escapee or as an active sentence on another offense).

There is no South Carolina case law that states revocation of bond on that specific pending charge is a necessary precondition. Nor is there any South Carolina case law that states the defendant can only receive credit for time served if the pending charge "relates" to the one holding him in pretrial detention. The plain language of § 24-13-40 simply does not include either revocation of bond on or relation back to the sentenced offense.

Even if the Court were to say the dearth of case law specifically addressing whether revocation is necessary or whether a defendant needs to be held specifically on the offense for which he is sentenced creates ambiguity in the statute, the rule of lenity would apply. The rule of lenity resolves any doubt in favor of the defendant. State v. Samuels, 403 S.C. 551, 558 743

S.E.2d 773, 777 (2013)(citing Bryant v. State, 384 S.C. 525, 533, 683 S.E.2d 280, 284 (2009)). The Supreme Court has held that penal statutes must be construed strictly against the government and in favor of the defendant. Samuels, 403 S.C. at 558 (citing State v. Blackmon, 304 S.C. 270, 273, 403 S.E.2d 660, 662 (1991)). To construe § 24-13-40 in favor of the defendant would mean not reading in requirements for revocation of bond or relation back to the offense holding the defendant, two requirements that are simply not in the text of the statute.

Here, Respondent was incarcerated pretrial – not as an escapee or serving an active sentence – and charged with Ticket 16002GY for over 300 days. Per § 24-13-40, Allen, and Blakeney, the fact that the City chose not move to revoke his bond on Ticket 16002GY does not affect Respondent’s entitlement to credit. That requirement is not in the plain language of the statute, it is not required per the holding in Allen, and is not required per the definition of time-served from Blakeney. Such a condition would contribute an additional reason, a “moreover,” to Respondent being entitled to that credit. There is no ambiguity as to whether this is a precondition but even if the Court were to find a genuine ambiguity, the rule of lenity requires the statute be resolved in favor of Respondent and no such precondition be read into § 24-13-40. As such, the Court should affirm the Circuit Court’s ruling.

C. Appellant’s view of the Circuit Court’s ruling is overbroad and the case law cited by Appellant only serves to illustrate the ways in which the South Carolina Legislature could have chosen—but did not so choose—to limit the scope of credit applied to pretrial detention.

Appellant’s claim that the Circuit Court’s statutory interpretation of § 24-13-40 would apply credit to “any trial and any sentence” (Appellant Br., p. 7) is overbroad and simply incorrect; the universe encompassed by the mandatory nature of § 24-13-40 is finite. The plain language of § 24-13-40 and the Circuit Court’s strict interpretation of that language would only require that Respondent’s 301 days of pretrial incarceration be credited towards those offenses

charged against Respondent and pending at the time of the 301 days of pretrial incarceration. As explained in Blakeney, the prisoner must be charged with the offense while in pretrial detention in order to receive credit. 339 S.C. at 88. Any time served before the defendant is charged is excluded from the mandatory nature of this statute. Furthermore, the second exception listed in § 24-13-40 excludes any time spent incarcerated post-sentencing, as a result of an active sentence on another offense.

Additionally, Appellant cites to case law outside of South Carolina, specifically People v. Prieskorn, 424 Mich. 327, 381 N.W.2d 646 (Mich. 1986) and Rash v. United States of America, 2010 WL 6794692 *1 (N.D.W.Va. Feb. 16, 2010), arguing that these cases address similarly situated defendants. However, the statutes at issue in those cases are not substantially similar to § 24-13-40. These cases are not controlling law but they do illustrate how South Carolina's Legislature could have chosen to word § 24-13-40 to be more narrow if that was their intent.

In Prieskorn, the statute at issue was Michigan's sentence credit statute, M.C.L. § 769.11b (2016), which provides that "[w]henver any person is hereafter convicted of any crime within this state and has served any time in jail prior to sentencing because of being denied or unable to furnish bond for the offense of which he is convicted, the trial court in imposing sentence shall specifically grant credit against the sentence for such time served in jail prior to sentencing." This statute is plainly different from South Carolina's statute. Section 24-13-40 is a general rule mandating credit for pretrial detention in all cases subject to two exceptions. Michigan's statute, instead, only carves out one situation in which credit for pretrial detention must be granted: when the defendant is detained because he was not granted bond or was unable to pay it, and explicitly limits its application to the offense for which he is convicted. In Prieskorn, the Michigan Supreme Court held that the legislature's intent was to give a right to

presentence jail time specifically for the offense which he is convicted. 424 Mich. at 651. The Court explains that “[h]ad the Legislature intended that convicted defendants be given sentence credit for all time served prior to sentencing day, regardless of the purpose for which the presentence confinement was served, it would not have conditioned and limited entitlement to credit to time served ‘for the offense of which [the defendant] is convicted.’” Id.

In comparison, South Carolina’s statute does not condition credit for time served on being held specifically for the sentenced offense. Instead, § 24-13-40 conditions entitlement to credit for pretrial time served on that time not being the result of two situations: the defendant is an escapee from another penal institution or the defendant is serving an active sentence. Had the South Carolina legislature intended to limit credit for time served only to the offense for which the defendant is convicted, they could have included that language as Michigan chose to do.

In Rash, the statute at issue is the federal statute governing credit for prior custody, 18 U.S.C. § 3585(b) (2015), which states that credit is only granted where 1) the time spent in custody resulted from “the offense for which the sentence was imposed” or 2) the time spent in custody resulted from another charge, which the defendant committed after he was arrested on the offense for which he is sentenced. Appellant cites Rash for the proposition that “[i]n both cases [of 18 U.S.C. § 3585(b)], credit for time served will not be granted where the time in custody was credited against another offense.” 2010 WL 6794692 at *1. However, neither the statute nor the holding in Rash support Appellant’s interpretation of § 24-13-40. Instead, both support Respondent’s interpretation and the Circuit Court’s ruling in this case.

First, this federal statute governing credit for time served actually requires credit to be granted for time served in the **exact** situation here in Respondent’s case. Section 2 of 18 U.S.C. § 3585(b) states that credit is granted where the time spent in custody resulted from another